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LETTER OF ACCEPT N £, W I ER, AND CONSE T 

0. 2022076795001 

TO: Dcrartmcnt of Enforcemcn1 
Fm:mc,al lndustry Regul11tory Aulhority (FINRA) 

RE: George Snyllcr IV (Rc~pomknt) 
Fonner General Securities Rcrrescntativc 
CRD No. 4276539 

ru~uant to FINRA Ruic 9216, Respondent George Snyder TV submits this Letter of Acceptance, 
~a,v~r. and Consent (A WC) for 1hc purpose of proposing a scttlcmcnl of the alleged rule 
violations described below. This A WC is submitted on the condition that. if accepted, FINRA 
will not bring any future actions against Respondent alleging violations based on the same 
factual findings described in this A WC. 

I. 

ACCEPTA 

A. Respondent accepts and consents to the following findings by FINRA without admitting 
or denying them: 

BACKGROUND 

In October 2000, Snyder first became registered with FINRA as a General Securities 
Representative (GSR) through an association with Ameriprise Financial Services, LLC 
(CRD 6363). In a Unifonn Termination Notice of Securities Industry Registration (Form 
U5) dated November 3, 2022, Ameriprise reported Snyder's termination for "[v]iolation 
of[thc] finn's ETF solicitation policy." 

Although Snyder is not currently registered or associated with a FTNRA member, he 
remains subject to FIN RA ·s jurisdiction, pursuant to Article V, Section 4(a) of 
FINRA 's By-Laws.1 

OVERVJEW 

Between January 2022 and August 2022, Snyder recommended that 18 retail customers 
make 33 purchases of securities without having a sufficient understanding of the risks 
and features associated with the products he recommended, and without analyzing 
whether the recommendations were in the best interest of any individual customer. As a 

1 For more infom1ation about the respondent, visit BrokerCheck® at www.finra.org/brokerchcck 



n:~1111. 4-nylkt \\ 11lftilly, minted the r,nc Ohh~3flon under Ruic 15/-1 of the Secur111e1 
I ,rhangc Al·t of 1914 1Rc~111311on 01 or Reg Bl) nnd ,,olalcJ rlNRA Ruic 20IO 

Snyder al~n ml\ma1kcJ l2 of the order ltckcts rcla1111~ 10 the,c trarNtl'l1on~ tl'i un~ohcircJ 
"hen. 10 fnl1. Snyder hall '-Oltctlrd the trnn~arltons . !\, n re,ult, Snyder \'1ola1eJ ~ INRA 
Ruic, 4511 and 20 IO hy eauc:mg hi, memhcr finn to make ,md prc,en,c inaccurnlc book, 
and records m ' 1olaMn <'f Section I 7fa) of the Secunt,e, Exchange Act and Ruic 17a-J 
thereunder. 

Addt1tonolly. Sn} der exercised d1sci ct1onary n111hority when effect mg six of rhc 
tran,acttons " tthout fi rst obtnming wnttl'n nuthoriwtion from the ,u,tomcr~ and hi, 
member linn to treat the accounts n~ di,cretionary, in viola11on ofFINR A Rules 3260(bJ 
nnd 201 0. 

FACT A D VIOLATIVE CO r>UCT 

This matter originated from FINRA 's 1evicw of1he Ameriprise Fonn U5 fil ing. 

Reg11lation Best /,iterest 

A~ of June 30, 2020, broker-dealers and their associated persons arc required to comply 
With Regulation Bl under the Securities Exchange Acl of 1934. Rule 15/-l(a)( I) of Reg 
BJ requires a broker. dealer, or a natural person associated with a broker or dealer, when 
making a recommendation of any securities transaction or investment strategy involving 
~ecurilies (including account recommendations) to a retail customer, to act in the best 
rnlerest of that retail customer al the time the recommendation is made, without placing 
the financial or other interest of the broker, dealer, or associated person ahead of the 
interest of the retail customer. Reg Br's Care Obligation, set forth at Exchange Act Rule 
15/-1 (a)(2)(ii). requires broker-dealers and their associated persons to exercise reasonable 
diligence, care, and skill to, among other things, understand the potential risks, rewards, 
and eosts associated with a recommendation. Reg BI's Adopting Release provides that 
what constitutes ''reasonable diligence" depends on, among other things, the complexity 
of. and risks associated with, the recommended security. 2 The Care Obligation requires 
broker-dealers and their associated persons to have a reasonable basis to believe that the 
recommendation could be in the bes! interest of al least some retail investors. 

Reg Bi's Care Obligation also requires broker-dealers and their associated persons to 
exercise reasonable diligence, care, and skill to, among other things, have a reasonable 
basis to believe that the recommendation is in the best interest of a particular retail 
customer based on that retail customer's investment profile and the potential risks, 
rewards, and costs associated with the recommendation. Regulation Bl defines a "retail 
customer investment profile" to include, but not be limited to, the customer's age, other 
investments, financial situation and needs. tax status, investment objectives, investment 
experience, investment time horizon, liquidity needs, risk tolerance, and any other 

2 Regulation Best Interest: The Broker-Dea/er Standard of Co11d11ct, Exchange Act Release No. 86031 , 84 FR 33318 
at 33376 (July 12, 2019). 
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mformat,on the c11c;tomcr m3\ dic;doc;c to the mcmbc, or a~~rn:iatcJ person m wnncct1on 
"llh such rcc,,mmcnd1tt1t,n · 

The Adopt mg Rckac;c funhcr pm\ ides that what is III the bc,t 111tere$t of a retail 
cu~tOITl\.'f depends on the factc; and circum~tanccs of the rccommcndat1on. mcludmg 
"matehmg" the n·commendcd SClunty to the retail cu,tomcr' · in\c,trncnt profile. Where 
the ·•match" between the retail cu,tomer profile and the rccomrnendatwn appears Iese; 
rca.,on.1blc. tt is mo1e important fo1 the a:.c;ocrated pcr!,on to establish that he or she had 1\ 
rcasonahle hchef that the recommendation was m the best mtcre~t of the retail customer 
Fmally. the Adopting Release provides thnt, in add1t1on to "matchmg" the 
recommendation lo the customer's investment profile. an assocrntcd pl'r on c;hould also 
excrr,se rea:-on:iblc dihgenee, care. and skill to conc;1der reasonably avmlahlc 
alternatives. 4 

A violatton of Reg Bl also is a v1olat1on of FINRA Ruic 20 I 0, which requires associated 
persons to "observe high standards of commercial honor and Just and equitable prsnciples 
of trade" in the conduct of their business. 

Snyder recommended purchases that were not;,, the best interest of his customers. 

Between January 2022 and August 2022. Snyder ;ccommcndcd that 13 retail customers 
invest m leveraged exchange-traded funds, also known as Non-Traditional Exchange­
Traded Products (NT-ETPs) on 18 occasions. These products seek to return multiples of 
the perfonnance of an undcrlymg index or benchmark they track. Most NT-ETPs reset 
daily, meaning they are designed to achieve their stated objectives over the course of one 
trading session, i.e., a single day. As explained in FINRA Regulatory Notice 09-31, the 
performance ofNT-ETPs over periods of time longer than a single trading session can 
differ significantly from the pcrfonnance of their underlying index or benchmark during 
the same period of time. This Notice also advises that NT-ETFs .. typically arc not 
suitable for retail investors who plan to hold them for more than one trading session, 
particularly in volatile markets." In addition, on I 5 occasions, Snyder recommended that 
11 customers, including six of the 1J customers discussed above, invest in equity 
securities of two companies engaged in crypto asset mining. 

Snyder did not have a reasonable basis to believe that the investments he recommended 
were suitable for any retail customer. Snyder did not have an understanding of the 
features and risks associated with the investments, including the holding-period risk of 
NT-ETPs or the volatility of the recommended stocks, and he was unfamiliar with the 
strategies or relative costs of the products he recommended. Snyder did not conduct 
research about the NT-ETPs he recommended and did not review their prospectuses, 
which specifically stated "[i)f you are considering holding fund shares for longer than a 
day, it's important that you understand the impact of Index returns and Index volatility 
(how much the value of the Index moves up and down from day-to-day) on your holding 

1 Adopting Release at 33382. 

• Adop1ing Release at 33381. 
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penod r<.·rum " · nydcr aho did not condull anv research :1bour the stoch he 
rccommcndcll, nnd hnd no undc!"tandmg of th~ potential "olatility of the \Cnmllcs or of 
the bu,mcs~cs in '"htch the l!-~ucrs ,, c-rc cn~aged. 

Snyder abo ,c,·ommcndcd lht.· 1r,1n~act1ons ,, 1thou1 cunductmg any analysis lo dctcnmnc 
"hcthcr they \\ere m lhc be,1 intc1c~1 or each cu,1omcr to whom he recommended lhe 
purcha~cs. ll)dcr·, cu~toml'l"l had mm1mal or no pnor experience mvc!llmg m the c 
produl:'"· and Snyder did 1101 con.-.1dcr lus cu..,tomcrs' specific investment profiles. 
including their , arymg mvcstmcnt obJt.'ctivcs, nsk tolcrance. or age Six of the customer 
"ere ~cn,or nncstors. t,, o of whom hnd moderate risk tolcrnncc . and five additional 
cu,tomci:,, had con~cnra11vc or moderate nsk tolerances 

As of June 12, 2024. the customers who purcha~cd the recommended stocks. uffercd 
total realized losses of approximately $30.000 Snyder received total comrn1ss1ons or 
SJ.699.03 m conncc11on with all 33 ofhi:. customers' purchases. 

Therefore. Snyder willfully violated Exchange Act Ruic 15/-1 (a)( I) and violated FINRA 
Rule 2010. 

Sny,ft,r caused Ameriprise to make and preserve i11"ccurate hooks a11d records. 

FINRA Rule 4511 requires FINl{A members to make and preserve books and records in 
confonnity with Exchange Act Sec11on J 7(a) and Rule I 7a-3 thereunder. Exchange Act 
Rule 17a-3 requires member finns, among other things, to make and keep a record of 
"each brokerage order" showing "the tenns and conditions of the order." including 
"whether the order was solicited or unsolicited." Inherent in the obligation to make and 
preserve books and records is the requirement that they be accurate. A registered 
representative who causes their finn to fail to comply with these record-keeping 
obligations violates FINRA Ruic 4511. A violation orFINRA Rule 4511 is also a 
violation of FINRA Rule 2010. 

Between January and August 2022, Snyder rnismarked 32 order tickets associated with 
the recommendations described above as unsolicited when he had solicited the trades. By 
mismarking these order tickets, Snyder caused Ameriprise to make and preserve 
inaccurate books and records with respect to these trades in violation of Section I 7{a) of 
the Exchange Act and Rule I 7a-3 thereunder. 

Therefore. Snyder violated FfNRA Rules 4511 and 20 I 0. 

Snyder exercised discretion wit/tout 111ritte11 autftorizatio11. 

FIN RA Rule 3260(b) prohibits a registered representative from exercising discretionary 
trading authority in a customer's account unless the customer has given the representative 
prior written authorization and the account has been accepted in writing as a discretionary 

S Ameriprise offered rescission of 1he relevant transactions to each of the cus1omers. 
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ACl'tlunt b,· 1hc h'Pfl'~cntatl\ c',; member firm cmplcwcr. /\ \1olat1on of HNI{ /\ lhik 
32Mth) t<i nl,o n \tOl:1111,n off Ii RJ\ Ruk ~1)10 

Ikt\\ec11 l11mu1ry and AUl,l\l',I 2022, Snyder C'(erci<icd di,1.·rcllon w11h1111I prior w ri tten 
nutho11iat1cm "hen cff1.'l·tm1_1 'it, of the 1ran<;acl1011, dc,cnbcd 11b0\ c Although the 
1.u,tomcr-. had ~•\en Sn)dc1 nnphcd authority to c,cn·1'ie d1,nc11on 111 the ir ai:unmt, , 
none of the cuqonwr-. pn" 1detl \\ 11t1cn autho11,.111on for ~nyder to ..:xcrc1~c d1,crction At 
ull relc"ant time~. Amcnpmc 's WSP!, pwh1b1tcd d"1.·ret1onnl)' tradmg 111 b10kcr,tgc 
a1.·coun1, 

Therefore, Snyder v1ol:it1.•d FINRA Ruh: 3260(h) ,md 2010. 

B Rc!,pondcnt al,;.o con~cnts to the 1mpos1tion of the following , am:t1on, 

• 

• 

• 

:1 live-month su,pen,;1on flom a~sociJting w11h any F'INRA mcinbcr 111 all 
capacities; 

a $10,000 fine; unJ 

disgorgcmcnt ofS3,699.03 plus 1111crcs1 as de cnbcd bdow . 

Respondent understands that 1fhc 1s barred or suspended from associallng with any 
FINRA member, he becomes subJcct to a s1atu1ory disquahticat,on as that tenn is defined 
in Artide JU. Section 4 of FlNRA ·s By-Laws, incorporating Section 3(a)(39) of the 
Secunt1es Exchange Act of 1934. Accordingly, he may not be associated with any 
FJNRA member m any capacity, includmg clencal or mmisterml function~. <luring the 
period of the bar or suspension. See FJNRA Rules 831 O and 8311. 

Respondent understands 1hat this settlement mcludes a finding that he willfully viola1ed 
Rule 15/-1 (a)( 1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 an<l that under Anicle UI, 
Section 4 of FIN RA 's By-Laws, this makes him subject to a statutory disqualification 
with respect to association with a member. 

The fine shall be due and payable either immediately upon reassociation wilh a member 
finn or prior to any application or request for relief from any statulory disqualification 
resulting from this or any other event or proceeding. whichever 1s earlier. 

Respondent specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim an inability to pay, now 
or at any time after the execution of1h1s A WC, the monetary sanctions imposed in this 
malter. 

Disgorgement of commissions received is ordered to be paid to FJNRA in the amount of 
$3,699.03, plus interest at the rate set forth in Section 6621 (a)(2) of the lnlcmal Revenue 
Code, 26 U.S.C. § 662 l(a)(2). from January 19. 2022 until the date this A WC is accepted 
by lhe Na1ional Adjudicatory Council (NAC). Disgorgement shall be due and payable 
either immediately upon reassociation with a member finn or prior to any application or 
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l'\'quc~t for rd,cffrom 11ny stat111ory J15quahficat1on rcc;ultm@ from th,., or any olhcr C\'enl 
or prtX' t•cding, \\ hie he, er 1s cr,rhcr 

The ~anl·lton, tm('IO!--cJ m th, A WC ~hall be effect,,e on a date c;cl by rJNRA 

If. 

WAIVER CW l'HUCED 

Rc~rondl'nt spcc1fically nnd voluntanly waive~ the following rights granted under FINllA 's 
Code of Procc<lurl': 

A. To have a complaint 1 ~ucd spcc1fymg the allegations agam!>t him: 

13 To be noti licd of rhe complaint and have lhe opportunily ro answer lhc allegations 
in wtitmg; 

C. To defend against the allegations in a disciplinary hearing before a hearing panel. 
to have a written record of the hearing made, and to have a wntten decision 
issued; and 

D. To appeal anv such decision to the NAC and lhen to the U.S. Seeurit,es and 
Exchange C~mmission and a U.S. Court of Appeals. 

Further, Respondent srecifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim bias or prejudgment 
of the Chief Legal Officer, the NAC, or any member of the NAC, in connection with such 
person's or body's participation in discussions regarding the tcnns and conditions of this A WC, 
or other consideration of this A WC, including its acceptance or rejection. 

Respondent further specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim 1hat a person violated 
the ex pane prohibitions ofFINRA Ruic 9143 or the separation of functions prohibitions of 
FINRA Rule 9144, in connection with such person's or body's participation in discussions 
regarding the tcnns and conditions of this AWC, or other consideration of this A WC, including 
its acceptance or rejection. 

III. 

OTHER MATTERS 

Respondent understands that: 

A. Submission of this A WC is voluntary and will not resolve this matter unless and 
until it has been reviewed and accepted by the NAC, a Review Subcommittee of 
the NAC, or the Office of Disciplinary Affairs (ODA), pursuant to FINRA Rule 
9216; 
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I 

n 11 th1~ AW( 1~ not acccptl·d. 11, ,uhm1,~1c,n will not Ile u,cd 3 ' C\ idcncc to prove 
a,w of the 11llrgnllon~ aiznan,1 Rc,ronJcnt. imd 

C l f acccrted 

th,, t\\\( \\Ill hccomc 11.111 ofRc,pondcnt', penn.tncnt J1,c1pl111,try 
rCl'ord ,inJ nrn~ be rn11~1dc1t•tl man) future at11011 htought by f-lNRA or 
any othc1 rC'gulntl,r ag1un~t Rc,pon(knt. 

2 tlm A WC" 111 he mndc a, mlahlc tluou~h fl RA ·s puhlll c.lrsclo,urc 
progrnm m acrnrdnnc~• with 11 RA Ruic 1013, 

l H , RA 111:iy mal..c :i puhhc n11111,unccmcn1 conccmmg th11- agreement and 
II ,uh1C'ct rnat1c1 111 accordance with Fil RA Ruk 831 J; and 

4 Rc!'-pondcnt may 1101 1ai..c any acuon or make or permit 10 be made any 
public statement. incluJmg in rl•gulntory filmgs 11r otherwise. denying. 
dire tly or mdircctly. any findmg 111 1h1s A WC or create the 1mprcss1on 
th.it the A WC 1s wi1hout factual basis. Rcspondcnl mny not trike any 
posll1011 111 any procccdmg broughl by or on behalf of FINRA. or 10 which 
FINRA 1s a party. that i. incon 1stcnt w11h any part ofth1s /\ WC. No1hing 
111 this prov11,10n affect Rc~ponJcnt's right to take legal or factual 
po. 1110ns 111 li11gat1on 01 other legal proceeding~ in which FINRA is nut a 

party. Nothmg 111 this prov1S1on affccls Respondent's testimonial 
obligations m any litigation or other legal proccedmgs 

D Respondent may allach a con-cclive action statcmcnl to this A WC that is a 
stritcment of demonstrable corrective steps taken to prcvcnl future misconduct 
Respondent understands that he may not deny the charges or make any statcmcnl 
that is inconsistent with the /\ WC m this statement. This statemenl docs not 
constitute factual or legal findings by FINRA. nor does 11 renect the views of 
FINRA. 

Respondent certifies that he has read rind understands all of the provisions of this A WC and has 
been given a full opportunity to ask queslions about ii; Respondent underslands and 
acknowledges that FINRA docs not represent or advise him and Respondent cannot rely on 
FINRA for legal advice. Respondent has agreed to the A WC's provisions voluntarily; and no 
offer, threat, inducement, or promise of ony kind, other than the terms set forth in this /\ WC and 
the prospect of avoiding the issuance of a complaint, has been made to induce him to submit this 
AWC. 

Respondent 
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Accepted by FINRA: 

Signed on behalf of the  
Director of ODA, by delegated authority 

10/11/2024 

Date Sean Heikkila 
Counsel 
FINRA  
Department of Enforcement 
One Brookfield Place, 200 Liberty St., 11th Fl. 
New York, NY 10281 

✓ 
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